IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 02-50123

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
vVer sus
CARLOS CANTU,

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas
USDC No. SA-99-CR-347-20

February 11, 2003
Before JOLLY, H G NBOTHAM and MAG LL", Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM **

Carlos Cantu (“Cantu”) appeals his conviction of conspiracy
and possession with intent to distribute nore than fifty grans of
met hanphet am ne. He argues that the governnent failed to prove
venue; that his Sixth Amendnent right to confront w tnesses was
violated by alimtation on his cross-exam nation of a wtness; and
that his trial counsel rendered i neffective assistance. Cantu al so

chal l enges the sentence enhancenent inposed for perjury and

“Circuit Judge of the Eighth Crcuit, sitting by designation.

“Pursuant to 5TH QR R 47.5, the Court has determ ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in 5THCQR R 47.5. 4.



obstruction of justice. For the reasons set forth below, we affirm
the judgnent of the district court.
I

In 1996 and 1997, Cantu lived in California with several
roommates, including Luis Martinez. (“Martinez”) In 1997, Cantu
moved fromCaliforniato Raynondville, Texas. 1n 1998, Eloy Garcia
(“Garcia”), a governnent informant,! noved fromTexas to California
where he net Martinez. Garcia and Martinez discussed the drug
trade, and Martinez infornmed Garcia that he had a friend living in
Texas, Cantu, who could obtain drugs. |In Decenber 1998, Martinez
i ntroduced Cantu to Garcia in California.

Cantu introduced Garcia to Mariano Marquez (“Marquez”) in an
effort to set up a nethanphetamne deal in California. Garcia
recei ved a sanple of nethanphetam ne from Marquez. However, the
deal, which was set for February 1999, ultimately did not take
pl ace.

In March 1999, Cantu contacted Garcia from Texas and asked if
Garcia was still interested in obtaining nethanphetam ne. Garcia
referred Cantu to his “nephew’, DPS agent Saldivar. |In May 1999,
Cantu arranged to neet Sal divar and |Ishnmael Gonzal ez (“Gonzal ez”)
at an HEB store in Harlingen, Texas. Cantu and Sal di var net

outside the HEB store on My 29, 1999, where they discussed

!Garcia worked with a DEA agent, Scott Nagle (“Nagle”), in
California, and a Texas Departnent of Public Safety agent, Frank
Sal divar (“Saldivar”). Nei t her agent knew of the other’s
i nvestigation of Cantu.



Sal divar’s purchase of fifteen pounds of nethanphetam ne, which
Gonzal ez woul d supply. Cantu asked Saldivar if he were interested
i n purchasi ng sone heroin, made statenents regardi ng the details of
t he heroi n busi ness and pl aced phone calls regardi ng heroin. Cantu
and Sal divar then entered the HEB store, where Cantu introduced
Sal di var to Gonzal ez and they di scussed t he net hanphet am ne deal .
Cantu assured Saldivar that he was doing business with a good
or gani zati on.

In June 1999, Gonzalez traveled to Dallas through Waco to
conpl et e t he net hanphet am ne deal and i ntroduce Sal di var to several
ot her nenbers of the organization. During that trip to Dallas
Gonzal ez was arrested. O her nmenbers of the organization were
arrested after conpleting a nethanphetam ne transaction in San
Antoni o, Texas in August 1999.2

A jury convicted Cantu of conspiracy to possess with the
intent to distribute nore than fifty grans of nethanphetamne in
violation of 21 U.S.C. 88 841 and 846 and possession wth intent to
distribute nore than fifty granms of net hanphetam ne in viol ati on of
21 U.S.C. 8 841 and 18 U.S.C. § 2. He was sentenced to concurrent
ternms of 188 nonths i nprisonnent and five years supervi sed rel ease.
He appeal s his conviction and the enhancenent of his sentence.

I

Cantu argues that the district court erred in not instructing

2The organi zation transported drugs t hrough and conpl et ed drug
transactions in San Antoni o, Waco and Austi n.
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the jury on venue. He further argues that the evidence is not
sufficient to establish venue. Cantu concedes that he did not
rai se the i ssue of venue at trial. Under this court’s precedent he
has wai ved his chall enges to venue.

Cenerally, failure to raise the i ssue of venue before trial or
before jury verdict in the district court, constitutes waiver of

the i ssue of venue. United States v. Carbajal, 290 F.3d 277, 289

(5'" Cir. 2002); United States v. Carreon-Palacio, 267 F.3d 381,

391-93 (5" Gr. 2001). Cantu argues that his general Rule 29
nmotion was sufficient to preserve the issue of venue for appeal.
This court has expressly rejected that argunent. Carbajal, 290 F. 3d
at 289 n. 19 (“Carbajal failed to preserve this i ssue for appeal by
specifically raising the issue in his notion for acquittal or by

requesting a jury instruction on venue”). See also United States

v. Bala, 236 F.3d 87, 95-96 (2™ Cir. 2000). Cantu’s argunent that
he is entitled to plain error/manifest injustice review of his
venue challenges is simlarly foreclosed. Carbajal, 290 F.3d at
289.

In spite of afailure to nake a formal objection before trial,
“failure to instruct on venue is reversible error when trial
testinony puts venue in issue and the defendant requests the

instruction.” Carreon-Palacio, 267 F.3d at 392 (citing United

States v. Wnship, 724 F.2d 1116, 1124-25 (5'" Gir. 1984)). Cantu

concedes that he did not request an instruction on venue and does
not argue that the trial testinony put venue in issue. The
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district court therefore did not err by not giving, sua sponte, a

venue instruction to the jury.
1]

Cantu argues that his trial counsel’s failure to raise the
issue of venue in the district court anmounts to ineffective
assi st ance. This court does not review clains of ineffective
assi stance of counsel on direct appeal unless the issue was

presented to the district court. United States v. Lanpazi anie, 251

F.3d 519, 527 (5" Cir. 2001); United States v. Rinard, 956 F. 2d 85,

87 (5'" Cir. 1992). However, this court will resolve ineffective
assistance clainms in “rare cases where the record allows [this

court] to evaluate fairly the nerits of the claim” United States

v. Higdon, 832 F.2d 312, 314 (5'" Cir. 1987). This is not one of
those rare cases. Cantu did not raise this claimin the district
court. There is nothing in the record regarding the nerits of the
claimincludi ng counsel’ s awareness of problens wth venue or his
reasons for not raising objections to venue. Because there is
nothing in the record that would allow us fairly to evaluate the
merits, we do not address Cantu’'s ineffective assistance claim
|V

On cross-exam nation, Cantu’s counsel asked Garcia how nuch
income he earned as an informant in 1999. Counsel for the
governnent objected based on relevancy and the district court
sustai ned the objection. Cantu argues that the district court
erred in sustaining the objection and that this error violated his
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Si xth Amendnent right to confront the w tnesses against him

We turn first to Cantu’'s Sixth Amendnent claim The Sixth
Amendnent guar antees the right of an accused “to be confronted with
the wi tnesses against hini and the opportunity for an effective

Cr oss-exam nati on. Del aware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U S. 673, 678

(1986). A defendant’s Sixth Anendnent rights are viol ated when he
is prohibited fromproper cross-exam nati on desi gned to show “facts
fromwhich jurors could appropriately draw i nferences relating to
the reliability of the witness.” 1d. On the other hand, the Sixth
Amendnent is not violated by limtations on cross-examnation if
the jury is presented with sufficient information to “appropriately
draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness.” |d.

The record is clear that Cantu was able to elicit sufficient
information from@Garcia on cross-examnation to informthe jury on
i ssues of credibility. Garciatestified that he was a prof essi onal
i nformant and had been since 1979. He testified that he worked for
federal and state authorities in California and Texas, and that he
was paid for providing information to these authorities. He
testified further that he was paid by the case, that he was paid
$7,200 for his work on the case agai nst Cantu, and that he was paid
after Cantu was apprehended. From this testinony, the jury was
exposed to facts sufficient to showthat Garcia m ght have a reason
tolie. The district court’s ruling on the governnent’s objection
relating to Garcia’ s incone for 1999 did not violate Cantu’s Si xth

Amendnent rights.



Once the Sixth Anmendnent has been satisfied, this court
reviews the district court’s restrictions on cross exan nation for

abuse of discretion. United States v. Ml oof, 205 F.3d 819, 829

(5" Gir. 2000); United States v. Perez, 217 F.3d 323, 331 (5" Cir.

2000) . Cantu argues that the amount Garcia earned in 1999 is
relevant to the strength of Garcia s potential notive to entrap
Cantu because if Garcia had not earned a | ot that year, he woul d be
nmore likely to lie in Cantu’'s case. The governnment counters that
Garcia’ s inconme in 1999 is irrelevant because Garcia s incone in
the last six nonths of 1999 (after Cantu’s arrest) was not yet
earned when Garcia was associating with Cantu. W think that the
relevancy of this information is doubtful and cannot say that the
district court abused its discretion in determning that the
information was irrel evant.
\Y

Finally, Cantu argues that the district court erred in
enhancing his offense level by two levels for obstruction of
justice and perjury under U S S. G § 3ClL. 1. This court reviews
factual findings nade by a district court for sentencing purposes
under the clearly erroneous standard, and reviews the district

court's legal application of the Guidelines de novo. United States

v. Asibor, 109 F.3d 1023, 1040 (5th Gr. 1997).
Section 3Cl.1 provides a two |evel enhancenent of offense
level “[i]f the defendant willfully obstructed or inpeded, or

attenpted to obstruct or inpede, the admnistration of justice
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during the i nvestigation, prosecution, or sentencing of the instant
offense.” U S.S.G 8§ 3ClL.1. The comments to 8 3Cl.1 specifically
i nclude “comm tting, suborning, or attenpting to suborn perjury” as
conduct warranting an enhancenent for obstruction. To support an
enhancenent based on perjury, the district court nust nake an
i ndependent finding that the defendant gave “false testinony
concerning a material matter with the willful intent to provide
fal se testinony, rather than as a result of confusion, mstake or

faulty menory.” United States v. Dunnigan, 507 U. S. 87, 94 (1993);

United States v. Wld, 92 F.3d 304, 308 (5'" Gir. 1996).

At the close of trial, the district court doubled the bond in
the case “based on obstruction of justice and perjury that 1’ve
heard this afternoon.” The presentence report included findings
that Cantu “w |l fully obstructed the adm nistration of justice,”
specifically citing Cantu’s testinony denying his involvenent in
the conspiracy, denying his prior dealings wth and connection to
people in the drug trade, and claimng that he was entrapped and
forced to deal drugs. An addendum to the presentence report
concluded that Cantu’s untruthful testinony was given with wllfu
intent rather than as a result of confusion. At the sentencing
hearing, the district court adopted the presentence report in ful
and nmade the foll ow ng findings:

[ T] he defendant took an oath to tell the truth. This

defendant commtted perjury and obstructed justice.

During the trial proceedi ngs, the defendant nade nunerous

fal se statenments know ng those statenents were false

The statenents that were given under oath were nmateri al
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and... the defendant gave false testinobny as to the
el emrent of entrapnent by denying prior heroin dealings.

Cantu argues that the court’s findings are clearly erroneous
because the court did not identify particular false testinony. The
district court is not required to identify specific perjurious

statenments in order to apply 8 3Cl.1. United States v. Gonzal ez,

163 F. 3d 255, 263 (5'" CGir. 1998). The district court, by adopting
the presentence report, made an independent finding that Cantu’'s
testinony regarding his involvenent in the conspiracy, his prior
dealings in the drug trade, his connection to those involved in the
drug trade, and his claimof entrapnent was inconsistent wth al
of the other testinony and evidence on these points in a way that
is attributable to perjury rather than confusion. Thi s
identification of instances of perjury satisfies the requirenents
of § 3Cl.1. Cantu also argues that his testinony that he had not
engaged in heroin dealing did not conflict with any evidence in the
record. Wiile there was no direct testinony as to specific prior
heroin deals, there was testinony indicating that Cantu approached
Sal di var about selling themheroin; that Cantu had know edge of the
heroin business; and that Cantu had established heroin dealing
contacts. Cantu’'s testinony that he did not deal in heroin prior
to his contact with Garcia conflicts wth this testinony. The
finding that these conflicts in testinony are attributable to
perjury by Cantu is not clearly erroneous.

Cantu argues that under Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U S. 466




(2000) and Ring v. Arizona, 122 S.C. 2428 (2002), the sentence

enhancenent violates his Sixth Anmendnent right to a jury
determ nation of the facts essential to punishnent. In Apprendi,
the Supreme Court held that “[o]Jther than the fact of prior
conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crinme beyond
the prescribed statutory maxi num nust be submitted to a jury, and
proved beyond a reasonabl e doubt.” Apprendi, 530 U S. at 490. The
Suprene Court applied Apprendi in R ng, holding that capital
defendants are entitled to a jury determnation of factors
i ncreasi ng their maxi mum puni shnent fromlife to death. Ring, 122
S.C. at 2432. W have consistently held that Apprendi is limted
to facts which increase the penalty beyond the statutory nmaxinum
and is not applicable to the district court’s factual findings for
the purposes of determning sentences under the Sentencing

Guidelines within the applicable statutory range. United States v.

Doggett, 230 F.3d 160, 165 (5'" Cir. 2000). Ring does not change
that analysis. Cantu’'s sentence in this case, 188 nonths in prison
and five years of supervised release, is well within the statutory
maxi mum of life in prison; therefore, Apprendi does not apply.

For the foregoing reasons, the judgnent of the district court

s AFFI RVED.
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